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UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS

BOBBY LYNN STOFF, a/k/a Bob Stoff
and RITA A STOFF,

Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeals fromthe United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Texas
(4:91-CR-22 (1))

(Novenber 18, 1992)
Before JOLLY, DUHE, and BARKSDALE, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM !
Bobby Lynn Stoff and Rita A Stoff appeal their convictions.
W AFFI RM
| .
On January 28, 1991, Bobby Stoff called the Dallas Police

Departnent to report that his 1990 Chevrol et pickup had been stol en

. Local Rule 47.5.1 provides: "The publication of opinions that
have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases on
the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needless
expense on the public and burdens on the legal profession.™
Pursuant to that rule, the court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



fromhis place of enploynent. H's wife, Rta, then reported the
loss to Allstate Insurance Conpany, the couple's autonobile
insurer. Allstate responded by mailing various claimforns to the
Stoffs. Rita conpleted the fornms, had them notarized and nmuail ed
them back to Allstate. On March 12, 1991, Allstate paid off the
Stoff's loan on the reportedly stolen truck and paid the renaining
bal ance to the Stoffs.

Two weeks l|ater, agents fromthe Texas Departnent of Public
Safety, Mdtor Vehicle Dvision (DPS), the National Auto Theft
Bureau (NATB) and the FBlI conducted a search of the Stoffs’
backyard, where they discovered various vehicle parts, including
the original notor and transm ssion fromthe 1990 Chevrol et truck
reported stolen. 1In July, the pickup was pulled froma |ake. It
had been stripped of its seats, steering colum, radiator, engine,
transm ssion and tail gate.

That August, Rita and Bobby Lynn Stoff were indicted on one
count of conspiracy to commt an offense against or defraud the
United States, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, and two counts of
mai | fraud and ai di ng and abetting, in violation of 18 U S.C. 88 2
and 1341. Both defendants filed notions to suppress the evidence
sei zed fromtheir backyard. The notions were denied. Bobby noved
for judgnent of acquittal, Fed. R Cim P. 29, at the end of the
governnent's case and again at the close of all of the evidence;
Rita did so only at the close of all the evidence. Both were
denied. R ta and Bobby were both found guilty on all counts. The

court sentenced Bobby to, inter alia, 18 nonths of inprisonnent for



each count, to run concurrently, and ordered himto pay $8, 629. 26
restitution to Allstate. Rita was sentenced to, inter alia, 12
mont hs i nprisonnment for each count, also to run concurrently.

.

Rita and Bobby contend that the district court abused its
discretion in denying their notions to suppress and in admtting
extrinsic evidence of Rita's prior untruthful acts. Bobby al so
asserts that the denial of his notions for judgnent of acquittal
was erroneous.

A

The Stoffs contend that the engine and transm ssion found in
their backyard were the fruits of an illegal search, in violation
of their Fourth Anmendnent rights. The governnent responds that
Rita Stoff freely and voluntarily consented to the search. Rita
replies that she did not consent and, in the alternative, that any
consent was coerced and involuntary.

On the first day of trial, the district court conducted a
suppression hearing. Sergeant Smth of the DPS Mot or Vehicle Theft
Division testified that, on the day of the search, having received
information from FBI agent Blanton that a stolen notor m ght be
hi dden in the Stoffs' backyard, he and Agent Latinmer of the NATB
observed a notor there. The initial observation was made from a
back alley, which was public property. The officers then went to
the front of the Stoffs' honme and knocked on the door. Wen Rita
Stoff answered, they told her that they were |ooking for stolen

parts in the area and inquired about the notor in her backyard.



Rita insisted that the notor belonged to her and was not stolen.
She invited the officers inside and offered to showthema title to
the notor. The officers advised her that the docunent was not a
title, but a contract to purchase the truck, and asked if they
could ook at the notor. Rita brought her guard dog in the house,
allowwing Smth and Latiner to enter the backyard. Smth further
testified that Rita unlocked a netal storage building in the
backyard, allowing themto search it. Various interior parts of a
1990 Chevrol et pickup were found inside. Blake Stewart of the FB
testified that he and FBI agent Bl anton joined Latiner and Smth at
the Stoff hone after they had entered the backyard.

Rita Stoff's version of the story was quite different. She
testified that all four agents arrived together, identified
thensel ves, and said that they wanted to |look in her backyard
When she refused, Agent Blanton allegedly said, "Wy, do you have
sonething to hide? ... Well, nmake it easy on yourself, why don't
you let us in the backyard?" R ta testified that she felt she had
no choice but to allow the officers to search her yard, so she
brought the dog inside and let the officers into the backyard. She
said that she neither unlocked the storage building nor gave
perm ssion to search it.

Havi ng heard this testinony, the district court ruled that it
found Sergeant Smth's testinony credi ble and therefore denied the
nmotion to suppress. That rulingis, at least inplicitly, a finding
that Rita voluntarily consented to the search. Wen a trial court

finds that consent was voluntarily given, we wll review that



finding only for clear error. United States v. Chenault, 844 F.2d
1124, 1129 (5th Cr. 1988).

The district court determ nes the issue of voluntariness from
the totality of the circunstances. |d. Wen there is conflicting
testinony, as there is here, that conclusion is, in large part, a
credibility determnation. The district court stated that it found
Smth's testinony clear and credible. Hi s testinony was supported
by that of Blanton and Stewart. The district court's determ nation
that Smth was nore believable than Rita is not clearly erroneous.
See Chenault, 844 F.2d at 1129.

B

Rita Stoff testified at trial. During cross-exam nation, the
governnent pointed out that on the |loan application for a second
pi ckup truck, Rita used a social security nunber other than the one
she identified as her owmn. Rita testified that she had only one
social security nunber and that, while holding a nunber of
different jobs, her wages had al ways been earned under the sane
social security nunber. In rebuttal, the governnent offered
testinony that Rita had earned wages under yet a third socia
security nunber, which bel onged to Logan Ward Schackne.

At trial, the Stoffs contended that this rebuttal evidence was

i mproper under Federal Rule of Evidence 608(b).2? The evidence was

2 Rul e 608(b) states:

Specific instances of the conduct of a w tness, for
t he purpose of attacking or supporting the w tness

credibility, other than conviction of crine as
provided in rule 609, my not be proved by
extrinsic evidence. They may, however, in the
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admtted over their objection, and they re-urge the sanme point on
appeal .

Adm ssion of evidence is reviewed only for abuse of
discretion. Even if the evidence was erroneously admtted, it is
reviewed under the harmess error doctrine: the error is
reversible only if a substantial right is affected. Fed. R Evid.
103(a); United States v. Lopez, 873 F.2d 769 (5th Gr. 1989). The
Stoffs contend that the jury woul d have found Rita credi bl e but for
this evidence. If the jury had believed Rita's testinony, they
argue, the Stoffs could not have been convicted. W disagree.

"An error is harmess if the court is sure, after review ng
the entire record, that the error did not influence the jury or had
but a very slight effect on its verdict." United States v.
Underwood, 588 F.2d 1073, 1076 (5th Cr. 1979). Even assum ng the
chal | enged character evidence was admtted in error, such error was
clearly harmess. Rita Stoff's own testinony showed that she had
used a different social security nunber on the | oan application for
the second truck than the one she said was her own. This alone
rai ses questions of her credibility. Furthernore, the evidence of
fraud was overwhelmng. Rita and Bobby Stoff reported an al nost

new truck stolen. Soon thereafter, the stripped truck was found at

di scretion of the court, if probative of
trut hf ul ness or untruthful ness, be inquired into on
cross-exam nation of the witness (1) concerning the
W t ness'’ character for t r ut hf ul ness or
unt rut hf ul ness, or (2) concerning the character for
trut hful ness or untruthful ness of another wtness
as to which character the wtness being cross-
exam ned has testified.
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the bottom of a | ake and nany of the truck's parts were found at
the Stoffs' hone. The Stoffs' only explanation is that, a few
nmont hs after purchasing the truck, Bob "changed out" the engi ne and
transm ssi on.
L1l

Finally, Bob Stoff contends that the evidence is insufficient
to prove that he is the sane Bob Stoff nanmed in the indictnent.
Thus, he says, his notions for judgnent of acquittal were
erroneously deni ed. Stoff contends that, in considering this
i ssue, we should look to the state of the evidence at the close of
the governnent's case in chief and should not consider the entire
record. This court's precedent dictates otherw se: "[When a
defendant puts on evidence after his notion for judgnment of
acquittal has been denied, the sufficiency of the evidence to
support his convictionis to be determ ned by a review ng court on
the basis of the record as a whole," United States v. Perry, 638
F.2d 862, 864 (5th GCr. Unit A March 1981). Bob Stoff's own
W tness, Jerry Mrgan, pointed him out in the courtroom and
identified himas the Bob Stoff who was married to Rita Stoff, al so
seated at the defense table. This alone is nore than sufficient
evidence fromwhich a jury could infer that the Bob Stoff in the
courtroomwas the sanme Bob Stoff nanmed in the indictnment and about
whom evi dence had been offered at trial.

L1l
Accordi ngly, the judgnents are

AFFI RVED.



